Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: August 25, 2020 ACCEPTED: November 11, 2020 PUBLISHED: December 28, 2020

Topological operators and completeness of spectrum in discrete gauge theories

Tom Rudelius and Shu-Heng Shao

School of Natural Sciences, Institute for Advanced Study, Princeton, NJ 08540, U.S.A.

E-mail: rudelius@ias.edu, shao@ias.edu

ABSTRACT: In many gauge theories, the existence of particles in every representation of the gauge group (also known as completeness of the spectrum) is equivalent to the absence of one-form global symmetries. However, this relation does not hold, for example, in the gauge theory of non-abelian finite groups. We refine this statement by considering topological operators that are not necessarily associated with any global symmetry. For discrete gauge theory in three spacetime dimensions, we show that completeness of the spectrum is equivalent to the absence of certain Gukov-Witten topological operators. We further extend our analysis to four and higher spacetime dimensions. Since topological operators are natural generalizations of global symmetries, we discuss evidence for their absence in a consistent theory of quantum gravity.

KEYWORDS: AdS-CFT Correspondence, Discrete Symmetries, Gauge Symmetry, Global Symmetries

ARXIV EPRINT: 2006.10052



Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Symmetry operators	4
	2.1 Higher-form global symmetry	4
	2.2 Operators with boundary	5
	2.3 \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory	6
3	Non-invertible topological operators	8
4	Discrete gauge theories in 3d	9
	4.1 Topological line operators	9
	4.2 Discrete gauge theories	11
	4.3 Completeness and topological line operators	13
	4.3.1 Representation theory analysis	14
	4.3.2 MTC analysis	15
	4.4 Example: S_3 gauge theory	16
5	Discrete gauge theories in 4d	18
	5.1 A one-form symmetry that acts trivially on all lines	20
6	Topological operators and quantum gravity	21
7	Conclusions	23

1 Introduction

The last few years have seen great advances in the understanding of/appreciation for symmetries in quantum field theory and quantum gravity. In quantum field theory in d spacetime dimensions, symmetries come in two varieties: gauge and global. They are distinguished by an integer $0 \le q \le d - 1$, which indicates the dimension of the manifolds on which operators charged under the symmetry are supported. Such a symmetry is referred to as a q-form symmetry, with q = 0 an ordinary symmetry and q > 0 referred to as a higher-form symmetry [1].¹ They are associated with a group G, which may be either discrete or continuous. For an ordinary symmetry, G may be either abelian or non-abelian, but for a higher-form symmetry G is necessarily abelian.

A q-form global symmetry is generated by its symmetry operators, which are topological operators $U_g(M^{(d-q-1)})$ that have support on manifolds $M^{(d-q-1)}$ of dimension

¹See also [2–5] for earlier discussions on higher-form symmetries in two spacetime dimensions.

d-q-1 and are labeled by elements g of the group G. Here, topological means that correlation functions involving the operator $U_g(M^{(d-q-1)})$ are invariant under continuous deformations of $M^{(d-q-1)}$ provided that $M^{(d-q-1)}$ does not intersect any other operators in the deformation process. Two such operators supported on the same manifold $M^{(d-q-1)}$ may be fused according to the group multiplication law to produce a third operator:

$$U_g(M^{(d-q-1)}) \times U_{g'}(M^{(d-q-1)}) = U_{g''}(M^{(d-q-1)}), \quad gg' = g''.$$
(1.1)

Standard lore holds that global symmetries are not allowed in quantum gravity. Continuous zero-form global symmetries lead to stable black hole remnants [6, 7], which have been argued to cause problems for quantum gravity [8]. In string theory, any continuous zero-form global symmetry of the string worldsheet is gauged in the bulk spacetime [9]. Likewise in AdS_d/CFT_{d-1} , under certain assumptions, it has been argued that q-form global symmetries with $q \leq d-3$ (both continuous and discrete) of the boundary CFT are necessarily gauged in the bulk [10].

A second bit of quantum gravity lore is the *completeness hypothesis*, which holds that any gauge theory coupled to quantum gravity must have objects charged under every finite-dimensional irreducible representation of the gauge group [11]. Such objects may correspond to individual particles or collections of multiple particles, but in this work we will abuse terminology slightly and refer to all such objects simply as "particles." A gauge theory that satisfies this criterion is said to be *complete*, whereas a gauge theory that violates the criterion is *incomplete*. Arguments for the completeness of zero-form gauge theories have been given on the basis of black hole arguments [7] and in the context of AdS/CFT [10]. See also [12] for discussions in the case of discrete gauge theory.

Finally, a third bit of lore holds that the first two are related to one another: a quantum field theory with gauge group G will have an electric one-form global symmetry if it does not have particles in every representation of the gauge group. In other words, the principle of no global symmetries is said to imply the completeness hypothesis.

However, this third bit of lore is false: if G is discrete and non-abelian [10] or continuous and disconnected [13], the theory need not have any one-form global symmetry, even if its spectrum is incomplete. In this paper, we will investigate and refine this bit of lore in the context of discrete gauge symmetries. We will see that although incompleteness of a discrete, non-abelian gauge theory does not necessarily imply the existence of a oneform global symmetry, it does imply the existence of more general topological operators supported on manifolds of dimension d - 2.

In discrete G gauge theory, there are certain discrete analogs of the Gukov-Witten operators [14, 15], each labeled by a conjugacy class of G, that induce a nontrivial holonomy for the Wilson lines. In the pure gauge theory without matter, these Gukov-Witten operators are topological and will be denoted as $T_a(M^{(d-2)})$ with a conjugacy class of G. If G is abelian, all the Gukov-Witten operators are symmetry operators, and they generate an electric one-form global symmetry that is isomorphic to G [1].² When G is non-abelian,

 $^{^{2}}$ In three spacetime dimensions, the Gukov-Witten operator is not only labeled by a conjugacy class, but also a representation of the centralizer group of that conjugacy class (see section 4).

however, some or all of the Gukov-Witten operators may not obey a fusion algebra of a group as in (1.1). Rather, the fusion algebra takes the general form

$$T_a(M^{(d-2)}) \times T_b(M^{(d-2)}) = \sum_c N_{ab}^c T_c(M^{(d-2)}), \qquad (1.2)$$

for some nonnegative integer coefficients N_{ab}^c . In the case when G is abelian, T_a and T_b are symmetry operators, and there is only one term in the sum on the right-hand side with coefficient 1. But for more general topological operators such as the Gukov-Witten operators in a non-abelian discrete gauge theory, N_{ab}^c may be nonzero for more than one choice of $c.^3$

In what follows, we will prove several statements regarding the relationship between topological line operators and completeness in discrete G gauge theory weakly coupled to matter in three spacetime dimensions. In particular, we will demonstrate that if there are objects charged under every representation of G, i.e., if the spectrum is complete, then every Gukov-Witten line operator ceases to be topological. Conversely, if the spectrum is incomplete, then there will be at least one topological Gukov-Witten line.

But there is another statement of completeness we can make in 3d gauge theories. If the gauge theory has matter ϕ transforming in some representation α , then a Wilson line of representation α can end on a local excitation of the field ϕ . In the theory with the matter ϕ , we therefore say that the Wilson line of representation α is *endable*. The condition that the theory is complete is equivalent, therefore, to the statement that all Wilson lines are endable. This naturally suggests a more general notion of completeness: we say that a quantum field theory in three dimensions is *totally complete* if *every* line operator is endable.⁴ We will show that a totally complete 3d field theory has no topological lines whatsoever, and conversely, a 3d field theory that is not totally complete has at least one topological line.

The relationship between completeness and the existence of topological codimension-2 operators can be generalized to higher dimensions. We will focus on 4d discrete gauge theories, arguing that completeness implies the absence of topological Gukov-Witten surface operators. Conversely, under certain assumptions, the absence of such topological Gukov-Witten surface operators implies that the theory is complete. However, it is not true that completeness implies the absence of any topological surface operators: we will see that 4d $G = \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ gauge theory has a surface operator which remains topological even if the spectrum is complete.

We conclude therefore that within the context of discrete gauge theories, the "third bit of lore" regarding the relationship between completeness and the absence of global symmetries should be replaced with a new statement: completeness is not equivalent to the absence of electric one-form global symmetries, but rather to the absence of a particular set of codimension-2 topological operators. This revision naturally suggests a possible modification of the "first bit of lore": if q-form global symmetries, which are characterized

³Topological operators that are not associated with any global symmetry have been discussed extensively in two spacetime dimensions [16-27].

⁴We thank Jacob McNamara for discussions on this point.

by topological operators of codimension-(q + 1), are not allowed in quantum gravity, then perhaps more general topological operators of codimension-(q + 1) are also forbidden? In what follows, we will offer some explanations as to why we expect some sort of "no topological operators" statement in quantum gravity, but we will leave a more rigorous argument for future work.

The remainder of this paper is structured as follows. In section 2, we review higher-form global symmetries and their associated topological operators. In section 3, we introduce more general topological operators that are not necessarily associated with global symmetry. In section 4, we discuss discrete gauge theories in 3d, presenting our main results on the relation between completeness and topological operators, including the illustrative example of S_3 gauge theory. In section 5, we explain how these results may be generalized to gauge theories in 4d. In section 6, we discuss topological operators in the context of quantum gravity. Finally, we conclude in section 7 with a discussion of directions for future research.

2 Symmetry operators

In this section we discuss various basic aspects of global symmetries and their associated symmetry operators. All these discussions are well-known, and we provide a self-contained and streamlined review as a preparation for later sections.

2.1 Higher-form global symmetry

An intrinsic description of the global symmetry is given in terms of its symmetry operators. It is independent of the explicit Lagrangian presentation (if it exists) of the underlying system. This perspective was emphasized and generalized to higher-form global symmetry in [1], which we review below.

In d spacetime dimensions, a q-form global symmetry transformation is implemented by a symmetry operator $U_g(M^{(d-q-1)})$ that has support on a codimension-(q+1) closed manifold $M^{(d-q-1)}$. Here $g \in G$ is an element of the group G. When the manifold $M^{(d-q-1)}$ lies at a fixed time, this is an operator acting on the Hilbert space. When the manifold $M^{(d-q-1)}$ extends in time, this is a defect that modifies the quantization of the Hilbert space.⁵

The charged object of a q-form global symmetry is an operator $V(\mathcal{C}^{(q)})$ supported on a q-dimensional closed manifold $\mathcal{C}^{(q)}$ in spacetime. The action of the symmetry on V is given by linking a sphere $U_q(S^{d-q-1})$ with $\mathcal{C}^{(q)}$:⁶

$$U_{q}(S^{d-q-1}) \cdot V(\mathcal{C}^{(q)}) = g(V)V(\mathcal{C}^{(q)}), \qquad (2.1)$$

where g(V) is the representation of g realized by the charged operator V. This equation is understood physically via shrinking the S^{d-q-1} to a point on the manifold $\mathcal{C}^{(q)}$, which removes the operator U_g at the expense of introducing the representation g(V).

⁵Since we will mostly be working in Euclidean signature with no choice of a preferred time direction, we will be somewhat cavalier about this distinction and loosely refer to these operators/defects simply as operators when there is no source of confusion.

⁶Here for simplicity we assume the global symmetry is abelian. This is necessarily the case if q > 0.

Physical observables, including correlation functions, can be dressed with these symmetry operators or defects. The basic property of the symmetry operators is that correlation functions are invariant under any small deformation of $M^{(d-q-1)}$. Thus, symmetry operators are special cases of *topological operators*.

The symmetry operators obey the group multiplication rule:

$$U_g(M^{(d-q-1)}) \times U_{g'}(M^{(d-q-1)}) = U_{g''}(M^{(d-q-1)})$$
(2.2)

with $g'' = gg' \in G$. In particular, any symmetry operator $U_g(M^{(d-q-1)})$ has an inverse $U_{q^{-1}}(M^{(d-q-1)})$ such that

$$U_g(M^{(d-q-1)}) \times U_{g^{-1}}(M^{(d-q-1)}) = I, \qquad (2.3)$$

where I is the identity operator. In section 3, we will discuss more general topological operators whose inverses do not exist.

When G = U(1) and there is a conserved (q+1)-form Noether current j, the symmetry operator is simply $U_{\theta}(M^{(d-q-1)}) = \exp[i\theta \int_{M^{(d-q-1)}} \star j]$, with $\theta \in [0, 2\pi)$ the U(1) group element. The current conservation equation $d(\star j) = 0$ implies that the symmetry operator $U_{\theta}(M^{(d-q-1)})$ is independent of small deformations of $M^{(d-q-1)}$. When $M^{(d-q-1)}$ is taken to be the whole space at a given time, the topological nature of $U_{\theta}(M^{(d-q-1)})$ means that the U(1) charge is conserved in time.

2.2 Operators with boundary

So far we have discussed operators supported on closed manifolds. What about manifolds with boundary?

Starting from a quantum field theory with certain global symmetry and charged operators $V(\mathcal{C}^{(q)})$, one may couple the system to additional degrees of freedom to obtain a new system. Such a coupling may allow the charged operator $V(\mathcal{C}^{(q)})$ to be defined on manifolds with boundary. We will say that V is *endable* if it can be defined on a manifold with boundary with a certain choice of boundary operator. The choice of such a boundary operator is far from unique, in general.

If such a coupling renders V endable, it will also break the topological nature of all the symmetry operators $U_g(M^{(d-q-1)})$ that acted nontrivially on V in the pure gauge theory. In other words, the global symmetry is explicitly broken by the coupling. To see this, let us assume the contrary. We consider a linking configuration between $U_g(S^{d-q-1})$ and $V(\mathcal{C}^{(q)})$ as in the left-hand side of (2.1), but now we suppose that $\mathcal{C}^{(q)}$ is a manifold with boundary. As a result, we may topologically deform $U_g(S^{d-q-1})$ to unlink it from V, which is in contradiction with the nontrivial action of U_g on V. Therefore, U_g is no longer a topological operator when V is endable.

For example, consider the U(1) Maxwell theory without matter in four spacetime dimensions. The Maxwell theory has a topological surface operator $U_{\theta}(M^{(2)}) = \exp[\frac{2i\theta}{g^2} \int_{M^{(2)}} \star F]$ associated with the U(1) electric one-form global symmetry [1]. The charged operator is the Wilson line $V(\mathcal{C}^{(1)}) = \exp[i \oint_{\mathcal{C}^{(1)}} A]$. We now couple the U(1) gauge theory to a charge +1 scalar field ϕ . In the new theory, the Wilson line V can end on the



Figure 1. Topological line operator $U_g(M^{(1)})$ supported on a manifold with boundary. Physical observables are invariant under deformation of the manifold $M^{(1)}$ stretching between x and y provided the boundary $\partial M = \{x, y\}$ is held fixed.

(gauge non-invariant) field ϕ . Consequently, the one-form global symmetry is broken by this coupling.

A symmetry operator $U_g(M^{(d-q-1)})$ can also be endable. The boundary operator of $U_g(M^{(d-q-1)})$ may or may not be topological, but the interior of the symmetry operator still is. More specifically, all the physical observables are invariant under small deformations of $M^{(d-q-1)}$ while keeping the boundary ∂M fixed (see figure 1). In this sense the endability of an operator is not in tension with its topological nature. When $U_g(M^{(d-q-1)})$ is an endable topological operator, it does not imply that the symmetry is broken.

Let us illustrate the above discussion in the Ising CFT in two spacetime dimensions. The Ising CFT has an ordinary \mathbb{Z}_2 global symmetry that is exact and unbroken at the CFT point. Its symmetry line $U_g(M^{(1)})$ is endable. The endpoint operators are the leftand right-moving free Majorana fermions $\psi, \bar{\psi}$ and the disorder operator μ , with conformal weights $(h, \bar{h}) = (\frac{1}{2}, 0), (0, \frac{1}{2}), (\frac{1}{16}, \frac{1}{16})$, respectively.⁷ These endpoint operators are not topological (because of their nontrivial conformal weights), but the interior of the symmetry line is.

There is a more special case in which the boundary operator of an endable topological operator is also topological. In this case, the topological operator must act trivially on all operators $V(\mathcal{C}^{(q)})$, because we can move the topological boundary to unlink the operator action on the left-hand side (2.1).

2.3 \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory

Following [7], we now illustrate various ideas above using the \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory in d spacetime dimensions. The \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory can be realized using a U(1) one-form gauge field $A^{(1)}$ and a U(1) (d-2)-form gauge field $B^{(d-2)}$ with gauge transformation:

$$A^{(1)} \sim A^{(1)} + d\alpha^{(0)}, \qquad (2.4)$$

$$B^{(d-2)} \sim B^{(d-2)} + d\beta^{(d-3)},$$
(2.5)

⁷The endpoint operators are attached to the symmetry line, so they are not local operators of the Ising CFT. It follows that these endpoint operators do not correspond to states in the ordinary Hilbert space under the operator-state correspondence. Rather, under the operator-state map, they correspond to the states in the twisted Hilbert space where one twists the periodic boundary condition by a \mathbb{Z}_2 action.

where $\alpha^{(0)}$ and $\beta^{(d-3)}$ are 0- and (d-3)-form gauge parameters. The Lagrangian for the \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory is [1, 7, 28, 29]

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{N}{2\pi} B^{(d-2)} \wedge dA^{(1)} \,. \tag{2.6}$$

The \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory has a \mathbb{Z}_N one-form electric global symmetry. The symmetry operator is a topological Wilson operator of the higher form gauge field $B^{(d-2)}$:

$$U_n(M^{(d-2)}) = \exp\left[in \oint_{M^{(d-2)}} B^{(d-2)}\right], \qquad n = 0, 1, \cdots, N-1.$$
(2.7)

There is also a \mathbb{Z}_N (d-2)-form magnetic global symmetry. The symmetry operator is the topological Wilson line:

$$V_m(\mathcal{C}^{(1)}) = \exp\left[im \oint_{\mathcal{C}^{(1)}} A^{(1)}\right], \quad m = 0, 1, \cdots, N-1.$$
 (2.8)

Note that the symmetry operator of the electric global symmetry is the charged object of the magnetic symmetry, and vice versa. Consider an S^1 and an S^{d-2} that link with each other. We have

$$U_n(S^{d-2}) \cdot V_m(S^1) = e^{2\pi i nm/N} V_m(S^1), \qquad (2.9)$$

$$V_m(S^1) \cdot U_n(S^{d-2}) = e^{2\pi i n m/N} U_n(S^{d-2}).$$
(2.10)

The first of these equations describes the topological process of shrinking S^{d-2} to a point on S^1 , whereas the second describes the shrinking of S^1 to a point on S^{d-2} . The operator U_n can be interpreted as the Gukov-Witten operator for the gauge field $A^{(1)}$ as it induces a nontrivial holonomy for the Wilson line V_m .

In pure \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory, none of the above symmetry operators are endable. They can only be defined on closed manifolds, and the spectrum of dynamical charged particles is empty.

We now introduce additional degrees of freedom to couple the \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory to dynamical particles with electric charge $p \mod N$ and their composites. These dynamical electric particles can be the endpoints of the Wilson lines V_m if p divides m. Since V_m with p|m are now endable, U_n with $nm \notin N\mathbb{Z}$ are no longer topological. Hence the electric one-form symmetry is broken from \mathbb{Z}_N to $\mathbb{Z}_{gcd(p,N)}$, while the magnetic (d-2)form symmetry remains \mathbb{Z}_N . Note that even though some of the V_m 's are endable, they are still all topological. More precisely, all physical observables are invariant under small deformations of the interior of the open line $\mathcal{C}^{(1)}$ that leave its endpoints fixed.

When p and N are coprime, the spectrum of electrically charged particles with respect to the ordinary \mathbb{Z}_N gauge symmetry is complete, and all the Wilson lines are endable. Correspondingly, the Gukov-Witten operators U_n are no longer topological, and the electric one-form symmetry is completely broken. This establishes the equivalence between the following two statements in the \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory:

- Completeness of the electrically charged particle spectrum.
- Absence of the electric one-form global symmetry,

or equivalently, between

- Completeness of the electrically charged particle spectrum.
- Absence of topological Gukov-Witten operators.

The first version of the equivalence is, however, not true for non-abelian discrete gauge theory. By contrast, we will show in section 4 that the second equivalence can be generalized to non-abelian discrete gauge group in three spacetime dimensions. To address this generalization, we first need to discuss more general topological operators than the symmetry operators we have considered so far.

3 Non-invertible topological operators

Symmetry operators of global symmetry are topological operators. In the case when there is a conserved Noether current, the topological nature follows from the local current conservation equation. It is natural to ask: is every topological operator associated with a global symmetry?

The answer is no. There are topological operators that are not associated with any global symmetry. Such an operator may not obey a group multiplication rule as in (2.2). In particular, there might not be an inverse in the sense of (2.3). We will refer to such topological operators as the *non-invertible topological operators*.

Consider a non-invertible topological operator $T(M^{(d-q-1)})$ supported on a codimension-(q + 1) closed manifold.⁸ We would like to define an action of this non-invertible topological operator on the space of q-dimensional operators $V(\mathcal{C}^{(q)})$. The dependence of V on the manifold $\mathcal{C}^{(q)}$ is generally not topological. Similar to (2.1), this action is defined by linking a sphere $S^{(d-q-1)}$ with the $V(\mathcal{C}^{(q)})$, and then topologically shrinking the sphere to zero size. We will denote this action by

$$T(S^{d-q-1}) \cdot V(\mathcal{C}^{(q)}).$$

$$(3.1)$$

Similar to the discussion in section 2.2, if we deform the system so that V becomes endable, i.e., if it can be defined on a manifold with boundary, then all operators $T(S^{d-q-1})$ that act nontrivially on V will cease to be topological.

In two spacetime dimensions, an ordinary global symmetry is implemented by a symmetry line. There are many examples of non-invertible topological lines that are not associated with any global symmetry in two dimensions [16-27]. It has been advocated that

⁸Since the non-invertible operator does not have an inverse, it is not a unitary operator. Hence we will use T to denote it instead of U.



Figure 2. The duality line T in the two-dimensional Ising CFT defines a (non-invertible) map on the local operators by encircling a local operator V(x) and shrinking the circle. This defines an action on the Hilbert space of states via operator-state correspondence.

these non-invertible lines should be viewed as generalizations of the conventional global symmetry [22, 23, 25, 26]. Just like their symmetry line cousins, these non-invertible lines imply strong constraints on renormalization group flows and dualities [23, 30].

Perhaps the simplest example is the Kramers-Wannier duality line in the Ising conformal field theory (CFT) in two spacetime dimensions [16, 17, 19, 20, 23–25]. The duality line, denoted as T, obeys the multiplication rule

$$T(M^{(1)}) \times T(M^{(1)}) = I + U_q(M^{(1)}),$$
(3.2)

where $U_g(M^{(1)})$ is the symmetry line associated with the \mathbb{Z}_2 global symmetry of the Ising CFT, and $g \in \mathbb{Z}_2$ is the nontrivial element of \mathbb{Z}_2 . This multiplication rule is not a group multiplication, and indeed the duality line T is not associated with any global symmetry of the Ising CFT.

The duality line acts on the local operators in the Ising CFT as follows: let 1, ε , σ be the identity operator, thermal operator, and the spin operator with conformal weights $(h, \bar{h}) = (0, 0), (\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}), (\frac{1}{16}, \frac{1}{16})$, respectively. Then $T(S^1)$ acts on them via (3.1) as (see figure 2):

$$T(S^1) \cdot 1 = \sqrt{2}, \quad T(S^1) \cdot \varepsilon(x) = -\sqrt{2}\varepsilon(x), \quad T(S^1) \cdot \sigma(x) = 0.$$
(3.3)

4 Discrete gauge theories in 3d

4.1 Topological line operators

We now discuss topological line operators in three spacetime dimensions. One-form global symmetries in three dimensions are implemented by symmetry line operators [1]. In topological quantum field theory (TQFT), these symmetry lines, when extended in the time direction, are (the probe limits of) the worldlines of abelian anyons. In addition to the symmetry lines, there are also non-invertible topological lines that are not associated with any global symmetry.⁹ They are the non-abelian anyons in a TQFT. The mathematical framework for describing these lines is the *modular tensor category* (MTC) [32]. This is a subject that has been studied extensively in the literature, and here we only give a brief review.

⁹There are also non-invertible surface operators in three dimension [31].



Figure 3. Fusion of lines L_a and L_b .



Figure 4. We can surround a topological line L_a around another line L_b , and then shrink L_a to a point. This defines an action of L_a on L_b denoted as $L_a \cdot L_b = B_b^a L_b$ with B_b^a the braiding coefficient.

We will denote a topological line as L_a , with *a* distinguishing the different types of lines. In addition to the invertible lines that are associated with the one-form global symmetry, there are also non-invertible topological line operators. The fusion of two lines is defined as in figure 3 and takes the form

$$L_a \times L_b = \sum_c N_{ab}^c L_c, \tag{4.1}$$

with N_{ab}^c a non-negative integer. The fusion between two lines in three spacetime dimension is commutative, i.e., $L_a \times L_b = L_b \times L_a$.

As in (3.1), we can define an action of the line L_a (which is not necessarily invertible) on another line L_b via braiding. More specifically, we surround the line L_a around another line L_b as in figure 4. Since the lines are topological, we can shrink L_a to a point without changing any correlation function, leaving just the line L_b up to an overall braiding coefficient B_b^a :

$$L_a \cdot L_b = B_b^a L_b \,. \tag{4.2}$$

Note that generally $L_a \cdot L_b \neq L_b \cdot L_a$.

In a TQFT such as the gauge theory of a finite group with M topological lines, many of the fusion and braiding data are encoded in an $M \times M$ matrix known as the S-matrix. The fusion coefficients N_{ab}^c are given in terms of the S-matrix by the Verlinde formula [33],

$$N_{ab}^{c} = \sum_{n} \frac{S_{an} S_{bn} S_{nc}^{*}}{S_{0n}}.$$
(4.3)

The braiding coefficient B_b^a is given by

$$B_b^a = \frac{S_{ab}^*}{S_{0b}^*},\tag{4.4}$$

where the index 0 here represents the trivial line and * stands for complex conjugation. Note that by definition $B_b^0 := 1$, whereas B_0^a may or may not be equal to 1.

4.2 Discrete gauge theories

In this subsection we review the line operators in the pure gauge theory of a (possibly nonabelian) finite group G. We will also discuss the twisted versions of G gauge theory [34]. In the context of modular tensor category, such a theory is known as the (twisted) quantum double of G [35, 36].

In the pure gauge theory of a finite group G, the most familiar class of topological line operators are the Wilson lines, labeled by a representation of G. The Wilson line is generally not an invertible line. Relatedly, the fusion rule of the Wilson lines is given by the representation ring of G, which is generally not a group. More precisely, the invertible Wilson lines are those corresponding to one-dimensional representations, and they generate the magnetic one-form symmetry of the G gauge theory.

In addition to the Wilson lines, there are also Gukov-Witten line operators, each of which is labeled by a conjugacy class [g] of G. These are the discrete analog of the Gukov-Witten operators in four spacetime dimensions [14, 15]. We will denote these lines as $[g]_1$ where **1** stands for the trivial representation. These lines $[g]_1$ are generally not invertible. The invertible ones generate the electric one-form symmetry.

A Gukov-Witten line may also carry electric charge, which corresponds to a nontrivial representation α of the centralizer group H_g of an element g in the conjugacy class [g]. This possibility arises in three spacetime dimensions because both the Wilson lines and the Gukov-Witten operators happen to be one-dimensional and can be fused with each other. Thus, we may denote a general topological line in the G gauge theory as $[g]_{\alpha}$, with [g] a conjugacy class and α a representation of the centralizer, H_g . Wilson lines $[1]_{\alpha}$ are the special cases in which the conjugacy class is trivial. We will refer to any line $[g]_{\alpha}$ with a nontrivial conjugacy class as a Gukov-Witten operator, regardless of whether its associated representation α is trivial or nontrivial.

The braiding coefficient B_b^a in (4.4) from $L_a = [g]_{\alpha}$ surrounding a Wilson line $L_b = [1]_{\beta}$ is given by

$$B_b^a = \chi_\beta([g]) \cdot \text{size}([g]) \cdot \frac{\dim(\alpha)}{\dim(\beta)}, \qquad (4.5)$$

where $\chi_{\beta}([g]) := \text{Tr}(\beta(g))$ is the character of an element of the conjugacy class [g] associated with the representation β , and dim (α) is the dimension of the representation α . This can be derived from the explicit S-matrix of the discrete G gauge theory. See, for example, [37, 38]. In particular, if L_b is the trivial line [1]₁, we have

$$B_0^a = \operatorname{size}([g]) \cdot \dim(\alpha). \tag{4.6}$$

The number B_0^a is known as the quantum dimension of the line L_a . The line L_a is invertible (i.e., it generates a one-form symmetry) if and only if $B_0^a = 1$. This means that $[g]_{\alpha}$ is a symmetry line if only if size([g]) = 1 and dim(α) = 1. The former condition implies that $hgh^{-1} = g$ for all $h \in G$, i.e., g is an element of the center of G, and the centralizer of H_g is equal to G. From this, we recover the familiar statement that the electric one-form symmetry of G gauge theory, which is generated by the lines $[g]_1$, is given simply by the center of G.



Figure 5. Fusion of endable lines L_a and L_b . If L_a and L_b are both endable, then any line L_c with $N_{ab}^c \neq 0$ must also be endable.

In this work, we are interested in discrete G gauge theory coupled to additional matter fields, or particles. In the presence of a particle in the representation α of G, the Wilson line labeled by α is endable with the endpoint being the matter field. Assuming the existence of particles in two representations, α , β of the gauge group G, we may find particles (or multi-particle states, more generally) in additional irreducible representations of the gauge group by considering their tensor product $\alpha \otimes \beta = \sum_{\gamma} N_{\alpha\beta}^{\gamma} \gamma$. Physically, this corresponds to taking the OPE of the matter fields localized at the endpoints of the Wilson lines in the representations α , β . Note that the trivial Wilson line [1]₁ is endable, with endpoint being the identity local operator.

More generally, we may consider the setup shown in figure 5, in which a pair of lines fuse to form a third line. If the first two lines are endable, their fusion products must be endable as well. This means that in a given theory, the set of endable lines are closed under the fusion product (4.3). To use a more technical term, they form a *fusion subcategory* \mathcal{K}_{end} of the full category of line operators, \mathcal{C} .

As discussed in section 2.2, when some lines are endable, other lines might cease to be topological. Consider the setup shown in figure 6, which illustrates the action $L_a \cdot L_b$. If the line L_b can end, the loop L_a may be slid down below the endpoint of L_b and shrunk to a point, giving L_b times a factor B_0^a associated with the shrinking of L_a . Alternatively, L_a may be shrunk directly on the line L_b , giving L_b times a factor B_b^a . Thus, if the line L_a is topological, we must have

$$B_b^a = \frac{S_{ab}^*}{S_{0b}^*} = \frac{S_{a0}^*}{S_{00}^*} = B_0^a.$$
(4.7)

If this condition is not satisfied for all lines $L_b \in \mathcal{K}_{end}$, the fusion subcategory of endable lines, we conclude that L_a is not a topological line in the theory. Said differently, the lines that remain topological in the presence of charged matter in \mathcal{K}_{end} are precisely those which braid trivially with the lines in \mathcal{K}_{end} . The lines that braid trivially with all the lines in \mathcal{K}_{end} form a fusion subcategory of \mathcal{C} , known as the *centralizer* of \mathcal{K}_{end} in \mathcal{C} , which we denote $C_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{K}_{end})$.

For example, when some Wilson lines are endable, certain Gukov-Witten lines will cease to be topological. If the Wilson line $L_b = [1]_\beta$ is endable, then the lines $L_a = [g]_\alpha$ that remain topological must satisfy (4.7):

$$\chi_{\beta}([g]) = \chi_{\beta}([1]). \tag{4.8}$$

In other words, the Gukov-Witten lines that remain topological in the presence of electric matter in representations $\{\beta\}$ will be those in conjugacy classes [g] whose characters for each of the representations $\{\beta\}$ are equal to the dimension of the representation β .



Figure 6. Topological and endable lines. If L_b is endable, then L_a may be either shrunk to a point on the line L_b (bottom left), introducing a braiding factor B_b^a , or it may be slid off the line (top right) and then shrunk to a point (bottom right), introducing a braiding factor B_0^a . If L_a is topological, these two shrinking processes must agree, so we must have $B_b^a = B_0^a$.

Next, suppose instead that the line $L_a = [g]_{\alpha}$ is surrounded by the Wilson line $L_b = [1]_{\beta}$. This corresponds to the action $L_b \cdot L_a$. In this case, the Wilson line can be shrunk to a point, and the braiding coefficient B_a^b in (4.4) is given simply by

$$B_a^b = \chi_\beta([g]). \tag{4.9}$$

This means that if the Gukov-Witten line L_a can end, the Wilson line L_b will remain topological only if $\chi_{\beta}([g]) = \chi_{\beta}([1]) := \dim(\beta)$. Note that this is the same condition we saw above in (4.8). The set of topological Wilson lines will be the ones that satisfy this condition for all endable Gukov-Witten lines L_a .

One may also perform a Dijkgraaf-Witten twist [34] on the gauge theory by an element ω of $H^3(G, \mathrm{U}(1))$. In a twisted gauge theory, a line is labeled by a conjugacy class [g] as well as a projective representation α of the centralizer group H_g of g, where the projectivity is determined by ω and [g]. Since the conjugacy class [g] for a Wilson line is trivial, the latter is again labeled by a linear representations of G. The spectrum of Wilson lines is thus unaffected by the twist, and furthermore the braiding B_b^a of a Wilson line $L_b = [1]_\beta$ and a line $L_a = [g]_{\alpha}$ is still given by (4.5) [37, 38].

4.3 Completeness and topological line operators

We now turn to our primary question of interest: the relationship between completeness of spectrum and the existence of topological line operators. There are several different notions of completeness of interest to us. The simplest one, which we refer to as *completeness*, is

the statement that all Wilson lines can end,

completeness:
$$\mathcal{W} \subset \mathcal{K}_{end}$$
, (4.10)

where \mathcal{W} is the set of all Wilson lines. This follows as a consequence of having matter charged under every representation of the gauge group. For both gauge theories and more general TQFTs in three dimensions, however, we may define a more general notion of completeness: we say that such a theory has a *totally complete* spectrum if every line operator in the theory is endable: $\mathcal{K}_{end} = \mathcal{C}$.

Our main results regarding the relationship between completeness and topological lines in 3d gauge theory with finite gauge group G (untwisted or twisted) are as follows:

- 1. The spectrum is complete if and only if there are no topological Gukov-Witten lines.¹⁰
- 2. The spectrum is totally complete if and only if there are no topological lines.

The first statement is to be compared with the common belief that the spectrum of a gauge theory is complete if and only if there is no electric one-form global symmetry (see section 2.3). This common belief, however, is not true in general. For example, the S_3 gauge theory in three spacetime dimensions has no invertible Gukov-Witten line, so there is no electric one-form global symmetry regardless of the spectrum. A similar example was pointed out in [10]. Here we propose a natural refinement of the (false) common lore in terms of topological operators.

Some of these results follow from elementary theorems in representation theory of finite groups. Others follow directly from a theorem in MTC. In this subsection, we will derive these results by a combination of these two approaches.

4.3.1 Representation theory analysis

We start with the first statement on completeness.

Suppose that $\mathcal{W} \subset \mathcal{K}_{end}$, i.e., the spectrum is complete. By (4.8), any topological Gukov-Witten line $[g]_{\alpha}$ must satisfy $\chi_{\beta}([g]) = \chi_{\beta}([1])$ for all representations β of G. But by orthogonality of columns of the character table of G, this condition is not satisfied by any $[g] \neq [1]$. Thus, completeness \Rightarrow no topological Gukov-Witten lines.

We will prove the converse statement in section 4.3.2. Here we first discuss a weaker version: if $\mathcal{K}_{end} \subsetneq \mathcal{W}$, then there must exist at least one topological Gukov-Witten line. Note that this is not quite the same as the statement that incompleteness implies the existence of a topological Gukov-Witten line. This is because incompleteness simply requires $\mathcal{W} \not\subset \mathcal{K}_{end}$, rather than the stronger condition $\mathcal{K}_{end} \subsetneq \mathcal{W}$. Said differently, for the weaker statement we also assume that no Gukov-Witten lines are endable.

Now we proceed with the proof of the weaker statement. Suppose $\mathcal{W} \subsetneq \mathcal{K}_{end}$, i.e., the set of endable Wilson lines is a proper subset of the set of endable lines. We will show that

¹⁰In quantum field theory and in gravity, the notion of the gauge group is generally not invariant under duality. The distinction between the Wilson lines and the Gukov-Witten lines is also not invariant. In this statement, we have chosen a fixed duality frame in which the theory is naturally described in terms of a discrete gauge theory weakly coupled to electrically charged matter.

there must exist a topological Gukov-Witten line, which is equivalent to the existence of a nontrivial conjugacy class [g] satisfying $\chi_{\beta}([g]) = \chi_{\beta}([1])$ for all $[1]_{\beta} \in \mathcal{K}_{end}$. Define the reducible representation

$$\rho_{\text{end}} = \bigoplus_{[1]_{\beta} \in \mathcal{K}_{\text{end}}} \beta, \tag{4.11}$$

as the direct sum over all irreducible representations corresponding to endable Wilson lines. Recall that the representations $\{\beta\}$ in \mathcal{K}_{end} are closed under tensor product of representations, which means that $\rho_{end}^{\otimes n}$ is necessarily a sum over representations in \mathcal{K}_{end} . Next, we invoke a theorem of Burnside [39]: if α is a faithful representation of a finite group G, then every irreducible representation of G appears in the decomposition of $\alpha^{\otimes n}$ for some n. Since we have assumed \mathcal{K}_{end} is a proper subset of \mathcal{W} , it follows that ρ_{end} is not a faithful representation of G. Thus, there exists some $g \neq 1 \in G$ such that $\rho_{end}(g)$ is trivial, which by definition of ρ_{end} implies that $\beta(g)$ is trivial for every $[1]_{\beta} \in \mathcal{K}_{end}$. This implies $\chi_{\beta}([g]) = \chi_{\beta}([1])$ for all $[1]_{\beta} \in \mathcal{K}_{end}$.

4.3.2 MTC analysis

We now show that our main statements on completeness directly follow from a theorem of Müger [40] in the context of modular tensor category:¹¹

Theorem (Müger). Let C be a modular tensor category, and K a fusion subcategory. Then, $C_{\mathcal{C}}(C_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{K})) = \mathcal{K}$, and $\dim(\mathcal{K}) \cdot \dim(C_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{K})) = \dim(\mathcal{C})$.

Here the dimension of a category is defined as the square sum of the quantum dimensions of the lines. In other words, Müger's theorem establishes a duality pairing between a fusion subcategory \mathcal{K} and its centralizer $C_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{K})$.¹²

For our purpose, C is the set of lines in the discrete G gauge theory. We take $\mathcal{K} = \mathcal{K}_{end}$ to be the fusion subcategory consisting of all the lines that become endable as we couple to matter fields. The centralizer $C_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{K})$ is then the set of lines that remain topological after coupling to matter fields.

If $\mathcal{K}_{end} = \mathcal{C}$, i.e., if the spectrum is totally complete, then $C_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{K}_{end}) = \{1\}$. Indeed, $C_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{C}) = \{1\}$ is the definition of modularity of \mathcal{C} . Physically, this means that every line other than the trivial line will braid nontrivially with some line in \mathcal{K}_{end} , so no nontrivial line remains topological. Therefore, total completeness of the spectrum \Rightarrow no topological lines remain.

Conversely, if $\mathcal{K}_{end} \subsetneq \mathcal{C}$, then Müger's theorem implies $C_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{K}_{end}) \neq \{1\}$. This means that if the spectrum is not totally complete, then there will exist nontrivial topological lines that braid trivially with all endable lines, and therefore remain topological in the presence of the charged matter. Thus, the spectrum is totally complete \Leftrightarrow there do not exist any nontrivial topological lines.

This result applies to any TQFT in three spacetime dimensions, regardless of whether or not the theory under consideration is a finite gauge theory. Specializing to a finite gauge

¹¹We thank Theo Johnson-Freyd for discussions on this point.

 $^{^{12}\}mathrm{See}$ [41] for another physics application of this theorem.

theory of G (with or without a twist), even more can be said. To begin, recall that for a Wilson line $[1]_{\beta}$ in a representation β of the gauge group G, the lines that braid trivially with $[1]_{\beta}$ are precisely those labeled by conjugacy classes [g] satisfying $\chi_{\beta}([g]) = \chi_{\beta}([1])$. Clearly, this is true for [g] = [1], the trivial conjugacy class, so Wilson lines braid trivially with one another. If \mathcal{W} is the set of Wilson lines, then for any fusion subcategory $\mathcal{W}' \subset \mathcal{W}$, we have $\mathcal{W} \subset C_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{W}')$.

We are now ready to prove that the converse of our first statement on completeness. Suppose that there are no topological Gukov-Witten lines, i.e., $C_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{K}_{end}) \subset \mathcal{W}$. Setting $\mathcal{W}' = C_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{K}_{end})$ and using $C_{\mathcal{C}}(C_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{K}_{end})) = \mathcal{K}_{end}$, we learn that $\mathcal{W} \subset \mathcal{K}_{end}$: the spectrum is complete. Thus, completeness \Leftarrow no topological Gukov-Witten lines. Combining this with the proof in section 4.3.1, we have proven completeness \Leftrightarrow no topological Gukov-Witten lines.

4.4 Example: S_3 gauge theory

We now demonstrate the general ideas developed in the previous section in the simplest gauge theory of a non-abelian finite group, the S_3 gauge theory. See [42, 43] for a detailed analysis of this theory.

The symmetric group S_3 is a group with six elements. The elements of this group are identified with permutations of the set $\{1, 2, 3\}$ and may be written in cycle decomposition notation. For instance, (123) represents the group element that takes $1 \rightarrow 2$, $2 \rightarrow 3$, $3 \rightarrow 1$, whereas (23) exchanges $2 \leftrightarrow 3$.

The conjugacy classes of S_3 are labeled by partitions of 3, namely [3], [2, 1], and [1³], corresponding to cycles of size 3, 2, and 1 (the identity element), respectively. The number of elements in each of these conjugacy classes, i.e., the size of the conjugacy class, is 2, 3, and 1, respectively. An element of the conjugacy class [3], such as (123), has a \mathbb{Z}_3 centralizer subgroup: namely, (123) is stabilized by the identity, (123), and (132). An element of the conjugacy class [2, 1], such as (23), has a \mathbb{Z}_2 centralizer subgroup: namely, (23) is stabilized by the identity and (23). Since $H^3(S_3, U(1))$ is trivial, the S_3 gauge theory does not admit a Dijkgraaf-Witten twist.

In three spacetime dimensions, pure S_3 gauge theory includes eight topological line operators. Three of these are the Wilson lines, which correspond to the trivial conjugacy class [1³] of S_3 and are labeled by representations of S_3 . We denote these line operators by 1, 1₋, and 1₂, corresponding to the trivial representation, the sign representation, and the standard, 2-dimensional representation of S_3 , respectively. Next, there are two line operators corresponding to the conjugacy class [2, 1], labeled by the two representations of the centralizer \mathbb{Z}_2 . We denote these line operators by τ_+ , τ_- , respectively. Finally, there are three line operators corresponding to the conjugacy class [3], labeled by the three representations of the centralizer \mathbb{Z}_3 . We denote these line operators by θ_0 , θ_1 , and θ_2 .

The quantum dimensions of these operators are $\dim(1) = \dim(1_{-}) = 1$, $\dim(1_2) = \dim(\theta_{\mu}) = 2$, and $\dim(\tau_{\pm}) = 3$. (Here $\mu = 0, 1, 2$.) Only the trivial line and the Wilson line 1_{-} are symmetry operators. They generate a \mathbb{Z}_2 magnetic one-form global symmetry. The other six lines are all non-invertible. In particular, since all the Gukov-Witten operators are non-invertible, there is no electric one-form global symmetry.

		$[1^3]$		[2,1]		[3]			
		1	1_	1_2	τ_+	τ_{-}	$ heta_0$	θ_1	θ_2
	1	1	1	2	3	3	2	2	2
$[1^3]$	1_{-}	1	1	2	-3	-3	2	2	2
	1_2	2	2	4	0	0	-2	-2	-2
[9 1]	$ au_+$	3	-3	0	3	-3	0	0	0
[2,1]	$ au_{-}$	3	-3	0	-3	3	0	0	0
	$ heta_0$	2	2	-2	0	0	4	-2	-2
[3]	θ_1	2	2	-2	0	0	-2	-2	4
	θ_2	2	2	-2	0	0	-2	4	-2

Table 1. The S-matrix for the eight topological lines in S_3 gauge theory (multiplied by an overall factor of 6).

The S-matrix for the eight line operators is shown in table 1. The fusion rules between these line operators are:

$$1_{-} \times 1_{-} = 1, \quad 1_{-} \times 1_{2} = 1_{2}, \qquad 1_{2} \times 1_{2} = 1 + 1_{-} + 1_{2}$$

$$\theta_{\mu} \times 1_{-} = \theta_{\mu}, \quad \theta_{\mu} \times \theta_{\mu} = 1 + 1_{-} + \theta_{\mu}, \qquad \theta_{\mu} \times \theta_{\nu \neq \mu} = 1_{2} + \theta_{\lambda \neq \mu, \nu}, \quad \theta_{\mu} \times 1_{2} = \sum_{\nu \neq \mu} \theta_{\nu}$$

$$1_{-} \times \tau_{\pm} = \tau_{\mp}, \quad \tau_{+} \times \tau_{+} = \tau_{-} \times \tau_{-} = 1 + 1_{2} + \sum_{\mu} \theta_{\mu}, \quad \tau_{+} \times \tau_{-} = 1_{-} + 1_{2} + \sum_{\mu} \theta_{\mu}$$

$$1_{2} \times \tau_{\pm} = \theta_{\mu} \times \tau_{\pm} = \tau_{+} + \tau_{-}. \qquad (4.12)$$

We may also read off the braiding coefficients B_b^a from the S-matrix using (4.4). Using table 2, one can easily check that for $L_a = [g]_{\alpha}$ a Gukov-Witten line and $L_b = [1]_{\beta}$ a Wilson line, the braiding coefficients defined as (4.4) obey (4.5).¹³

From the fusion rules, we can determine the allowed possibilities for the spectrum of charged matter, or equivalently, the consistent choices of fusion subalgebra \mathcal{K}_{end} .¹⁴ There are eight possible choices for the allowed spectrum of matter \mathcal{K}_{end} :

(i) 1

- (iii) 1, 1_{-} , 1_{2} (complete)
- (iv) 1, 1_-, θ_0
- (v) 1, 1_-, θ_1

¹³For instance, for $L_a = \theta_0$ and $L_b = 1_2$, we have $B_b^a = \chi_2([3]) \cdot \text{size}([3]) \cdot \frac{\dim(1)}{\dim(2)} = -1 \cdot 2 \cdot \frac{1}{2} = -1$, which is the same as $\frac{S_{ab}^*}{S_{0b}^*} = \frac{-2}{2} = -1$.

⁽ii) 1, 1₋

¹⁴An inconsistent spectrum, for instance, would be one with only a particle in the representation **2** of S_3 . By consider the fusion of two such particles, we obtain a particle in the sign representation of S_3 . Hence any consistent spectrum containing the former particle necessarily contains the latter particle as well.

Rep./Conj. class	$[1^3]$	[2, 1]	[3]
Trivial	1	1	1
Sign	1	-1	1
Standard	2	0	-1

Table 2. The character table for the group S_3 .

(vi) 1, 1_-, θ_2

- (vii) 1, 1_-, 1_2, $\theta_0, \theta_1, \theta_2$ (complete)
- (viii) 1, 1_-, 1_2, $\theta_0, \theta_1, \theta_2, \tau_+, \tau_-$ (totally complete)

According to the theorem of Müger discussed above, the centralizer $C_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{K}_{end})$ of one of the above fusion subcategories \mathcal{K}_{end} is itself a fusion subcategory, with $C_{\mathcal{C}}(C_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{K}_{end})) = \mathcal{K}_{end}$. The category \mathcal{K}_{end} and its centralizer $C_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{K}_{end})$ form a dual pair in the above sense. Using the S-matrix in table 1, we find the following dual pairs:

$$\mathcal{K}_{(i)} \leftrightarrow \mathcal{K}_{(viii)}, \quad \mathcal{K}_{(ii)} \leftrightarrow \mathcal{K}_{(vii)}, \quad \mathcal{K}_{(iii)} \leftrightarrow \mathcal{K}_{(iii)}, \quad \mathcal{K}_{(iv)} \leftrightarrow \mathcal{K}_{(iv)}, \quad \mathcal{K}_{(v)} \leftrightarrow \mathcal{K}_{(vi)}.$$
(4.13)

If we couple the S_3 gauge theory to matter fields in some \mathcal{K}_{α} , then the corresponding lines in \mathcal{K}_{α} can end, and the lines that remain topological are precisely those in $C_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{K}_{\alpha})$. For instance, if the spectrum is complete but has no magnetic matter, then all Wilson lines are endable, so $\mathcal{K}_{end} = \mathcal{K}_{(iii)}$. The topological lines are those in $C_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{K}_{(iii)}) = \mathcal{K}_{(iii)}$, i.e., the topological lines will be simply the Wilson lines themselves. On the other hand, a spectrum that is totally complete will have matter in $\mathcal{K}_{(viii)}$, and since $C_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{K}_{(viii)}) = \mathcal{K}_{(i)} = \{1\}$, only the trivial line will remain topological. From the dualities in (4.13), we see that as expected, nontrivial topological lines exist if and only if the spectrum is not totally complete.

Theories with $\mathcal{K}_{end} = \mathcal{K}_{(iii)}$, $\mathcal{K}_{(vii)}$, or $\mathcal{K}_{(viii)}$ are complete. The duals to these three subcategories are given respectively by $C_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{K}_{end}) = \mathcal{K}_{(iii)}$, $\mathcal{K}_{(ii)}$, and $\mathcal{K}_{(i)}$, which are precisely the three fusion subcategories without any Gukov-Witten lines. We see that topological Gukov-Witten lines exist if and only if the spectrum is incomplete.

5 Discrete gauge theories in 4d

Many aspects of our 3d analysis carry over to finite gauge theories in 4d, but there are also some important differences. In particular, while there are still Wilson line operators labeled by representations α of the gauge group G, the Gukov-Witten operators are now *surface* operators, labeled by conjugacy classes [g] of G, which live on 2-dimensional manifolds in spacetime. The latter are the discrete version of the Gukov-Witten operators [14, 15]. Whereas the endpoints of Wilson lines are associated with the creation of electricallycharged particles, the boundaries of Gukov-Witten surfaces are associated with the creation of magnetically-charged strings. Lines can fuse to give other lines, and surfaces can fuse to give other surfaces.



Figure 7. Double (left) and triple (right) linking of surfaces in 4d. We depict the linking process for surface defects that extend in time. At a fixed time, each surface defect is one-dimensional as shown. The dotted lines describe the motion of the surface defect in the linking process.

A line and a surface can have nontrivial linking in four spacetime dimensions. The linking coefficient between a Wilson line and a Gukov-Witten surface is the same as in the untwisted G gauge theory in 3d: if a Gukov-Witten surface $T_{[g]}$ of conjugacy class [g]surrounds a Wilson line L_{β} of representation β , the surface can be shrunk to a point on the line at the expense of a linking coefficient,

$$B_{\beta}^{[g]} = \frac{\chi_{\beta}([g])}{\chi_{\beta}([1])} \cdot \operatorname{size}([g]), \qquad (5.1)$$

as in equation (4.5). The equivalence of these braiding and linking coefficients in 3d and 4d can be justified via dimensional reduction of the 4d gauge theory [44–46]. Similar linkings between the Wilson lines and codimension-2 Gukov-Witten operators in discrete G gauge theory exist in higher spacetime dimensions.

In addition, two or even three surfaces may link with each other [47, 48] (see also [49–52]). Figure 7, adapted from [47], shows how these linkings can be visualized for surfaces that extend in time and are one-dimensional loops in space.

In 3d, a line ceases to be topological if it braids nontrivially with a line that can end. In 4d, a similar phenomenon occurs: a line ceases to be topological if it links nontrivially with a surface that can end, and a surface ceases to be topological if it links nontrivially with a line that can end. However, additional possibilities arise in 4d due to the two and three-surface linking: a surface will cease to be topological if it links nontrivially with another surface that can end, and if two surfaces have non-trivial three-surface linking with a third surface that can end, then at least one of those surfaces cannot be topological.

Another new feature in 4d is that a Gukov-Witten surface T can be shrunk to a line [44]. The shrinking function S: {surfaces} \rightarrow {lines} must commute with fusion, $S(T_1) \times S(T_2) = S(T_1 \times T_2)$. Shrinking represents a smooth deformation of the surface, which means that if T is topological, then S(T) must also be topological. Similarly, if T is endable, then S(T) must also be endable.

In this paper, we focus our attention on the endability of line operators, which simply involves the addition of charged particles to the spectrum of the theory, so we assume that no surfaces are endable. Under this assumption, we need not worry about two-surface or three-surface linking. A surface $T_{[g]}$ ceases to be topological if and only if it links nontrivially with a line L_{β} that can end, i.e., if $B_{\beta}^{[g]} \neq B_{0}^{[g]}$, with 0 stands for the trivial line. Once again, this is equivalent to the condition that

$$\chi_{\beta}([g]) \neq \chi_{\beta}([1]) := \dim(\beta).$$
(5.2)

From our analysis in section 4.3, we know that if the set of endable lines \mathcal{K}_{end} is a proper subset of Wilson lines that is closed under fusion, then there exists at least one nontrivial conjugacy class [g] such that $\chi_{\beta}([g]) = \chi_{\beta}([1])$ for all endable Wilson lines $L_{\beta} \in \mathcal{K}_{end}$. This means that if the spectrum is incomplete, so that not all Wilson lines can end, then there exists at least one topological Gukov-Witten surface. Conversely, if the spectrum is complete, then there do not exist any topological Gukov-Witten surfaces, as any Gukov-Witten surface, labeled by a conjugacy class [g], links nontrivially with at least one Wilson line.

However, completeness does not preclude the existence of other topological surfaces in the theory. This may occur, for instance, in the case of $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ gauge theory, which we now consider in more detail.¹⁵

5.1 A one-form symmetry that acts trivially on all lines

Many of the details of $G = \mathbb{Z}_{2}^{(1)} \times \mathbb{Z}_{2}^{(2)}$ gauge theory follow straightforwardly from our previous discussions. Each $\mathbb{Z}_{2}^{(i)}$ has a Wilson line e_i and a Gukov-Witten surface m_i , with nontrivial linking coefficients $B_{e_1}^{m_1} = B_{e_2}^{m_2} = -1$. In addition, the Wilson lines fuse according to $e_1 \times e_2 = e_1 e_2$, and the Gukov-Witten surfaces fuse as $m_1 \times m_2 = m_1 m_2$. Together e_1 , e_2 , and $e_1 e_2$ represent the three nontrivial representations of G, whereas m_1, m_2 , and $m_1 m_2$ represent the three nontrivial conjugacy classes.

This theory admits a simple Lagrangian description:

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{2}{2\pi} A_1 dB_1 + \frac{2}{2\pi} A_2 dB_2, \tag{5.3}$$

with each A_i a one-form U(1) gauge field and each B_i a two-form U(1) gauge field. The Wilson lines and the Gukov-Witten surface operators are respectively given by

$$e_i(\gamma) = \exp\left(i\oint_{\gamma} A_i\right), \quad m_i(\Sigma) = \exp\left(i\oint_{\Sigma} B_i\right),$$
(5.4)

where γ is a closed curve and Σ is a closed two-dimensional surface.

So far, the story is very similar to the case of \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory studied in section 2.3. However, as discussed in [53] (see also [54]), there is a surface operator $v(\Sigma)$ in the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ gauge theory that is associated with the nontrivial element of $H^2(\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2, U(1)) = \mathbb{Z}_2$. This surface generates a \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form global symmetry. However, this one-form symmetry acts trivially on all the Wilson line operators in the theory. Instead, the surface v has a nontrivial triple linking with the surfaces m_1 and m_2 :

$$\langle v(\Sigma)m_1(\Sigma')m_2(\Sigma'')\rangle = (-1)^{\mathrm{Tlk}(\Sigma,\Sigma',\Sigma'')},\tag{5.5}$$

where $\text{Tlk}(\Sigma, \Sigma', \Sigma'')$ is the triple linking number [55] between the surfaces Σ, Σ' , and Σ'' .

¹⁵We thank Po-Shen Hsin for pointing this out to us, and to Meng Cheng and Qing-Rui Wang for illuminating discussions.

What does the surface v mean for the relationship between completeness and global symmetries? Since v links trivially with all Wilson lines, it remains topological even if the electric spectrum is complete. In order to destroy the topological nature of the v surface, one would need to add not just electrically charged particles, but also magnetically charged strings, which allow the surfaces m_1 and m_2 to end and render v non-topological due to its triple linking with m_1 and m_2 . Thus, it is not true that completeness of the electrically charged particle spectrum implies the absence of any topological surfaces whatsoever in 4d gauge theory with finite gauge group G. Instead, completeness implies that a particular set of surfaces are not topological — namely, the set of Gukov-Witten surfaces, which link nontrivially with the Wilson lines. Quite possibly a more general notion of completeness, which demands endability of surfaces as well as lines, may be related to the absence of any topological operators. We leave a more detailed analysis for future work.

6 Topological operators and quantum gravity

We have seen that in a gauge theory of a finite (possibly non-abelian) group G, an incomplete spectrum does not necessarily imply the existence of an electric one-form global symmetry. Instead, there will typically be non-invertible topological operators of codimension-2, which braid non-trivially with the Wilson lines in the theory. These observations support the perspective advocated in [22, 23, 25, 26] that topological operators should be viewed as generalization of (higher-form) global symmetries.

Standard lore holds that global symmetries are not allowed in a consistent theory of quantum gravity. Topological operators are natural generalizations of global symmetries. It is then natural to conjecture that these topological operators, like symmetry operators, should also be excluded in a consistent theory of quantum gravity. In other words, they reside in the Swampland [56].

Several lines of evidence support this conjecture. Here we present three:

- 1. Summing over topologies. It is difficult to even define a topological operator (which includes symmetry operators for global symmetries) in quantum gravity in complete generality. In quantum field theory on a fixed geometry, topological operators can be abstractly defined by their correlation functions subject to various consistency conditions, such as crossing and operator product expansion. The topological operators are inserted on fixed, nontrivial cycles of the spacetime manifold. The correlation function only depends on the topological class of the support of these topological operators, not on the detailed shape. By contrast, in quantum gravity, we are instructed to sum over all possible spacetime topologies. It is therefore meaningless to insert a topological operator on a fixed cycle of the spacetime manifold. This makes it difficult to derive any physical observables of these topological operators in quantum gravity.¹⁶ See [57] for a related discussion on the absence of operators with compact support in quantum gravity.
- 2. Completeness hypothesis. Quantum gravity lore holds that the spectrum of a gauge theory must be complete [7, 10, 11]. Given that completeness of the spectrum is tied to

¹⁶We thank Luca Iliesiu for related discussions.



Figure 8. The action of a topological defect on a local operator $U_g(M) \cdot \phi(x)$. Here R is a disk in space and the closed manifold M, which has topology of a sphere, is the boundary of $R \times [t-\epsilon, t+\epsilon]$.

the absence of certain topological operators, the completeness hypothesis provides further supporting evidence for the absence of topological operators in quantum gravity.

3. Fusion algebra. The non-invertible topological operators and the symmetry operators together form a nontrivial fusion ring (1.2). Generally, the symmetry operators can appear in the fusion channel of two non-invertible topological operators. For instance, in the 2d Ising CFT, the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry operator U_g appears in the fusion of a pair of non-invertible topological T operators (see (3.2)). Hence if the symmetry operators are forbidden in quantum gravity, so are the topological operators whose fusion products involve the symmetry operators.¹⁷

In the context of $\operatorname{AdS}_d/\operatorname{CFT}_{d-1}$, Harlow and Ooguri [10] have given an argument for the absence of q-form global symmetries in AdS_d quantum gravity (with $d \ge q+3$) using entanglement wedge reconstruction [58–61]. However, we will see that there is a difficulty in extending their argument to exclude more general topological operators. For simplicity, we will focus on the case of codimension-1 topological operators.

In Euclidean spacetime, we have defined an action (2.1) of a symmetry defect $U_g(M)$ on a local operator $\phi(x)$ by encircling the former around the latter, denoted as $U_g(M) \cdot \phi(x)$. In the case when the manifold M is shown in figure 8, this action reduces to:

$$U_g(M) \cdot \phi(x) = U_g^{\dagger}(R)\phi(x)U_g(R), \qquad (6.1)$$

where $U_g(R)$ is a symmetry operator at a fixed time supported on a disk R in space. In the argument of [10], it was crucial that the symmetry operator is *splittable*. This implies that if the spatial region R can be written as a disjoint union of subregions R_i , i.e., $R = \bigcup_i R_i$, then $U_g(M)$ must obey

$$U_g(M) \sim \prod_i U_g(M_i), \tag{6.2}$$

where M_i is a closed manifold associated with R_i defined similarly as in figure 8. Here, the symbol ~ means that the equality is true up to (*c*-number) phases from the 't Hooft anomaly of the global symmetry.¹⁸

¹⁷There are, however, topological operators whose fusion products do not involve any symmetry operators, in which case this argument does not hold. For example, there is a non-invertible topological line W in the 2d tricritical Ising CFT obeying the fusion algebra $W \times W = I + W$ [18, 23].

¹⁸See [23, 62, 63] for an example of an anomalous phase for a \mathbb{Z}_2 global symmetry in 2d.



Figure 9. The splitting of the non-invertible topological line T(M) (shown in black on the left) in the 2d Ising CFT, where M is the boundary of the rectangle $R \times [t - \epsilon, t + \epsilon]$. On the right-hand side of the equality, we have $T(M_1)$ and $T(M_2)$ (shown in black), as well as a \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry line U_g joining them (shown in the dotted blue line) in the last term.

To extend the argument of [10] to the more general topological operators, we ask: are the general topological operators/defects splittable?¹⁹ The short answer is no, at least not in the form stated in (6.2).

This can be seen from the non-invertible topological line T in the 2d Ising CFT associated with the Kramers-Wannier duality (see section 3). It obeys the splitting relation shown in figure 9 (see, for example, section 5.1.1 of [23]), which does not take the form of (6.2). Instead, the topological line T(M) is equated to a superposition of two different terms, with nontrivial weighing coefficients $1/\sqrt{2}$. The last term on the right-hand side of figure 9 does not take the form of $T(R_1)T(R_2)$, but has an additional symmetry line joining between the two $T(R_i)$. This is to be contrasted with the corresponding splitting relation of a \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry line shown in figure 10, in which case (6.2) is obeyed. These novelties for the non-invertible topological operators/defects make an extension of the argument of [10] nontrivial, but it is conceivable that a more general notion of splittability can be defined for topological operators, enabling a proof of the conjecture. We leave this for future studies.

7 Conclusions

We have seen that the standard lore that completeness of the spectrum of G gauge theory follows from the absence of one-form global symmetries must be modified when G is a finite (non-abelian) group. Rather, completeness of the spectrum is equivalent to the absence of topological Gukov-Witten operators. We have proven this statement in three spacetime dimensions, and (under certain assumptions) we have shown that this proof generalizes to four or more dimensions.

¹⁹In [10], the splittability condition is stated for symmetry operators $U_g(R)$ at a fixed time on a disk Rin space. However, symmetry operators/defects generally *cannot* be defined on a manifold with boundary in spacetime (see section 2.2). For example, in the \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory in two spacetime dimensions, there is a \mathbb{Z}_N zero-form global symmetry whose symmetry operator is the Wilson line $\exp[i \oint A^{(1)}]$ (see section 2.3). The Wilson line can only be defined on a closed curve, not on a finite segment in spacetime in pure \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory. For a non-invertible topological operator/defect T, even when T(R) can be defined on such a disk R, it does not have an inverse. Nonetheless, one can still discuss the splittability of a topological defect T(M) on a closed manifold M in the sense of (6.2).



Figure 10. The splitting of the symmetry line $U_g(M)$ (shown in dotted blue lines) of a \mathbb{Z}_2 global symmetry in 2d, where M is the boundary of the rectangle $R \times [t-\epsilon, t+\epsilon]$. This splitting obeys (6.2). For a non-anomalous (anomalous) \mathbb{Z}_2 global symmetry, we have a + (-) sign on the right-hand side [23, 62, 63]. The \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry of the Ising model is non-anomalous and therefore the sign above is +.

It is natural to conjecture that quantum gravity does not have topological operators, extending the usual statement that quantum gravity does not permit exact global symmetries. Several lines of evidence suggest this conjecture is true, but neither the black hole argument against continuous global symmetries [6, 7] nor the holographic argument against global symmetries in AdS_d [10] immediately extend to more general topological operators. It would therefore be worthwhile to formulate a more general proof against topological operators in quantum gravity.

In this work, we have dealt with the question of *exact* global symmetries and *exactly* topological operators, whose correlations functions are invariant under small deformations on the manifolds on which they are supported. From a phenomenological perspective, the distinction between an exactly topological operator and an approximately topological operator (which has only slight sensitivity to deformations of the manifold on which it is supported) is irrelevant provided the effects of such deformations are small enough to avoid experimental detection. Several works have sought to address this problem by investigating the strength of global symmetry-violating effects in quantum gravity [64-67]; it would be nice to extend these analyses to more general topological operators and to study the phenomenological implications thereof.

The absence of global symmetries and the completeness hypothesis are two examples of Swampland conjectures that can be understood as consequences of the absence of topological operators in quantum gravity. It would be interesting to see what other Swampland statements may be connected to this web of ideas.

Acknowledgments

We thank Maissam Barkeshli, Michele Del Zotto, Daniel Harlow, Ben Heidenreich, Po-Shen Hsin, Luca Iliesiu, Wenjie Ji, Theo Johnson-Freyd, Ho Tat Lam, Jacob McNamara, Miguel Montero, Hirosi Ooguri, Matthew Reece, Nathan Seiberg, Irene Valenzuela, and Qing-Rui Wang for helpful discussions. We thank Daniel Harlow, Ben Heidenreich, Jacob McNamara, Miguel Montero, Hirosi Ooguri, Matthew Reece, and Irene Valenzuela for comments on the manuscript. The work of TR is supported by the Roger Dashen Membership and by NSF grant PHY-1911298. The work of SHS is supported by the Simons Foundation/SFARI (651444, NS).

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- D. Gaiotto, A. Kapustin, N. Seiberg and B. Willett, *Generalized Global Symmetries*, JHEP 02 (2015) 172 [arXiv:1412.5148] [INSPIRE].
- T. Pantev and E. Sharpe, GLSM's for Gerbes (and other toric stacks), Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 10 (2006) 77 [hep-th/0502053] [INSPIRE].
- [3] T. Pantev and E. Sharpe, Notes on gauging noneffective group actions, hep-th/0502027 [INSPIRE].
- [4] S. Hellerman, A. Henriques, T. Pantev, E. Sharpe and M. Ando, Cluster decomposition, T-duality, and gerby CFT's, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 11 (2007) 751 [hep-th/0606034]
 [INSPIRE].
- [5] A. Caldararu, J. Distler, S. Hellerman, T. Pantev and E. Sharpe, Non-birational twisted derived equivalences in abelian GLSMs, Commun. Math. Phys. 294 (2010) 605
 [arXiv:0709.3855] [INSPIRE].
- [6] C.W. Misner and J.A. Wheeler, Classical physics as geometry: Gravitation, electromagnetism, unquantized charge, and mass as properties of curved empty space, Annals Phys. 2 (1957) 525 [INSPIRE].
- T. Banks and N. Seiberg, Symmetries and Strings in Field Theory and Gravity, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 084019 [arXiv:1011.5120] [INSPIRE].
- [8] L. Susskind, Trouble for remnants, hep-th/9501106 [INSPIRE].
- T. Banks and L.J. Dixon, Constraints on String Vacua with Space-Time Supersymmetry, Nucl. Phys. B 307 (1988) 93 [INSPIRE].
- [10] D. Harlow and H. Ooguri, Symmetries in quantum field theory and quantum gravity, arXiv:1810.05338 [INSPIRE].
- [11] J. Polchinski, Monopoles, duality, and string theory, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 19S1 (2004) 145 [hep-th/0304042] [INSPIRE].
- [12] N. Craig, I. Garcia Garcia and S. Koren, Discrete Gauge Symmetries and the Weak Gravity Conjecture, JHEP 05 (2019) 140 [arXiv:1812.08181] [INSPIRE].
- [13] B. Heidenreich, J. McNamara, M. Montero, M. Reece, T. Rudelius and I. Valenzuela, Non-Invertible Global Symmetries and Completeness of the Spectrum, to appear.
- [14] S. Gukov and E. Witten, Gauge Theory, Ramification, And The Geometric Langlands Program, hep-th/0612073 [INSPIRE].
- S. Gukov and E. Witten, Rigid Surface Operators, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 14 (2010) 87
 [arXiv:0804.1561] [INSPIRE].
- [16] J. Fröhlich, J. Fuchs, I. Runkel and C. Schweigert, Kramers-Wannier duality from conformal defects, Phys. Rev. Lett. 93 (2004) 070601 [cond-mat/0404051] [INSPIRE].
- [17] J. Fröhlich, J. Fuchs, I. Runkel and C. Schweigert, Duality and defects in rational conformal field theory, Nucl. Phys. B 763 (2007) 354 [hep-th/0607247] [INSPIRE].

- [18] A. Feiguin et al., Interacting anyons in topological quantum liquids: The golden chain, Phys. Rev. Lett. 98 (2007) 160409 [cond-mat/0612341] [INSPIRE].
- [19] J. Fröhlich, J. Fuchs, I. Runkel and C. Schweigert, Defect lines, dualities, and generalised orbifolds, in 16th International Congress on Mathematical Physics, 9, 2009, DOI [arXiv:0909.5013] [INSPIRE].
- [20] D. Aasen, R.S.K. Mong and P. Fendley, Topological Defects on the Lattice I: The Ising model, J. Phys. A 49 (2016) 354001 [arXiv:1601.07185] [INSPIRE].
- [21] M. Buican and A. Gromov, Anyonic Chains, Topological Defects, and Conformal Field Theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 356 (2017) 1017 [arXiv:1701.02800] [INSPIRE].
- [22] L. Bhardwaj and Y. Tachikawa, On finite symmetries and their gauging in two dimensions, JHEP 03 (2018) 189 [arXiv:1704.02330] [INSPIRE].
- [23] C.-M. Chang, Y.-H. Lin, S.-H. Shao, Y. Wang and X. Yin, Topological Defect Lines and Renormalization Group Flows in Two Dimensions, JHEP 01 (2019) 026 [arXiv:1802.04445] [INSPIRE].
- [24] W. Ji, S.-H. Shao and X.-G. Wen, Topological Transition on the Conformal Manifold, Phys. Rev. Res. 2 (2020) 033317 [arXiv:1909.01425] [INSPIRE].
- [25] Y.-H. Lin and S.-H. Shao, Duality Defect of the Monster CFT, arXiv:1911.00042 [INSPIRE].
- [26] R. Thorngren and Y. Wang, Fusion Category Symmetry I: Anomaly In-Flow and Gapped Phases, arXiv:1912.02817 [INSPIRE].
- [27] S. Pal and Z. Sun, High Energy Modular Bootstrap, Global Symmetries and Defects, JHEP 08 (2020) 064 [arXiv:2004.12557] [INSPIRE].
- [28] J.M. Maldacena, G.W. Moore and N. Seiberg, *D-brane charges in five-brane backgrounds*, *JHEP* 10 (2001) 005 [hep-th/0108152] [INSPIRE].
- [29] A. Kapustin and N. Seiberg, Coupling a QFT to a TQFT and Duality, JHEP 04 (2014) 001 [arXiv:1401.0740] [INSPIRE].
- [30] Z. Komargodski, K. Ohmori, K. Roumpedakis and S. Seifnashri, Symmetries and Strings of Adjoint QCD₂, arXiv:2008.07567 [INSPIRE].
- [31] A. Kapustin and N. Saulina, Surface operators in 3d Topological Field Theory and 2d Rational Conformal Field Theory, arXiv:1012.0911 [INSPIRE].
- [32] G.W. Moore and N. Seiberg, Classical and Quantum Conformal Field Theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 123 (1989) 177 [INSPIRE].
- [33] E.P. Verlinde, Fusion Rules and Modular Transformations in 2D Conformal Field Theory, Nucl. Phys. B 300 (1988) 360 [INSPIRE].
- [34] R. Dijkgraaf and E. Witten, Topological Gauge Theories and Group Cohomology, Commun. Math. Phys. 129 (1990) 393 [INSPIRE].
- [35] V.G. Drinfeld, Quantum groups, J. Sov. Math. 41 (1988) 898 [INSPIRE].
- [36] A. Kitaev, Fault tolerant quantum computation by anyons, Annals Phys. 303 (2003) 2
 [quant-ph/9707021] [INSPIRE].
- [37] M.D.F. de Wild Propitius, Topological interactions in broken gauge theories, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Amsterdam (1995) [hep-th/9511195] [INSPIRE].

- [38] Y. Hu, Y. Wan and Y.-S. Wu, Twisted quantum double model of topological phases in two dimensions, Phys. Rev. B 87 (2013) 125114 [arXiv:1211.3695] [INSPIRE].
- [39] W. Burnside, Theorem of Groups of Finite Order, Dover Publications, Inc., New York, 2nd ed. (1955).
- [40] M. Müger, On the structure of modular categories, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. 87 (2003) 291.
- [41] P.-S. Hsin, H.T. Lam and N. Seiberg, Comments on One-Form Global Symmetries and Their Gauging in 3d and 4d, SciPost Phys. 6 (2019) 039 [arXiv:1812.04716] [INSPIRE].
- [42] S.X. Cui, S.-M. Hong and Z. Wang, Universal quantum computation with weakly integral anyons, Quant. Inf. Proc. 14 (2015) 2687.
- [43] R. Dijkgraaf, C. Vafa, E.P. Verlinde and H.L. Verlinde, The Operator Algebra of Orbifold Models, Commun. Math. Phys. 123 (1989) 485 [INSPIRE].
- [44] H. Moradi and X.-G. Wen, Universal Topological Data for Gapped Quantum Liquids in Three Dimensions and Fusion Algebra for Non-Abelian String Excitations, Phys. Rev. B 91 (2015) 075114 [arXiv:1404.4618] [INSPIRE].
- [45] T. Lan, L. Kong and X.-G. Wen, Classification of (3+1)D Bosonic Topological Orders: The Case When Pointlike Excitations Are All Bosons, Phys. Rev. X 8 (2018) 021074 [INSPIRE].
- [46] T. Lan and X.-G. Wen, Classification of 3 + 1D Bosonic Topological Orders (II): The Case When Some Pointlike Excitations Are Fermions, Phys. Rev. X 9 (2019) 021005
 [arXiv:1801.08530] [INSPIRE].
- [47] C. Wang and M. Levin, Braiding statistics of loop excitations in three dimensions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 080403 [arXiv:1403.7437] [INSPIRE].
- [48] S. Jiang, A. Mesaros and Y. Ran, Generalized Modular Transformations in (3+1)D Topologically Ordered Phases and Triple Linking Invariant of Loop Braiding, Phys. Rev. X 4 (2014) 031048 [arXiv:1404.1062] [INSPIRE].
- [49] J. Wang and X.-G. Wen, Non-Abelian string and particle braiding in topological order: Modular SL(3,ℤ) representation and (3 + 1)-dimensional twisted gauge theory, Phys. Rev. B
 91 (2015) 035134 [arXiv:1404.7854] [INSPIRE].
- [50] C. Wang and M. Levin, Topological invariants for gauge theories and symmetry-protected topological phases, Phys. Rev. B 91 (2015) 165119 [arXiv:1412.1781] [INSPIRE].
- [51] P. Putrov, J. Wang and S.-T. Yau, Braiding Statistics and Link Invariants of Bosonic/Fermionic Topological Quantum Matter in 2 + 1 and 3 + 1 dimensions, Annals Phys. 384 (2017) 254 [arXiv:1612.09298] [INSPIRE].
- [52] Q.-R. Wang, M. Cheng, C. Wang and Z.-C. Gu, Topological Quantum Field Theory for Abelian Topological Phases and Loop Braiding Statistics in (3+1)-Dimensions, Phys. Rev. B 99 (2019) 235137 [arXiv:1810.13428] [INSPIRE].
- [53] P.-S. Hsin and A. Turzillo, Symmetry-enriched quantum spin liquids in (3+1)d, JHEP 09 (2020) 022 [arXiv:1904.11550] [INSPIRE].
- [54] D.V. Else and C. Nayak, Cheshire charge in (3+1)-dimensional topological phases, Phys. Rev. B 96 (2017) 045136 [arXiv:1702.02148] [INSPIRE].
- [55] J.S. Carter, D. Jelsovsky, S. Kamada, L. Langford and M. Saito, Quandle cohomology and state-sum invariants of knotted curves and surfaces, Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 355 (2003) 3947.
- [56] C. Vafa, The String landscape and the swampland, hep-th/0509212 [INSPIRE].

- [57] J. McNamara and C. Vafa, *Baby Universes, Holography, and the Swampland*, arXiv:2004.06738 [INSPIRE].
- [58] B. Czech, J.L. Karczmarek, F. Nogueira and M. Van Raamsdonk, The Gravity Dual of a Density Matrix, Class. Quant. Grav. 29 (2012) 155009 [arXiv:1204.1330] [INSPIRE].
- [59] A.C. Wall, Maximin Surfaces, and the Strong Subadditivity of the Covariant Holographic Entanglement Entropy, Class. Quant. Grav. 31 (2014) 225007 [arXiv:1211.3494] [INSPIRE].
- [60] M. Headrick, V.E. Hubeny, A. Lawrence and M. Rangamani, Causality & holographic entanglement entropy, JHEP 12 (2014) 162 [arXiv:1408.6300] [INSPIRE].
- [61] X. Dong, D. Harlow and A.C. Wall, Reconstruction of Bulk Operators within the Entanglement Wedge in Gauge-Gravity Duality, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 021601 [arXiv:1601.05416] [INSPIRE].
- [62] Y.-H. Lin and S.-H. Shao, Anomalies and Bounds on Charged Operators, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 025013 [arXiv:1904.04833] [INSPIRE].
- [63] C. Córdova, K. Ohmori, S.-H. Shao and F. Yan, Decorated Z₂ symmetry defects and their time-reversal anomalies, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 045019 [arXiv:1910.14046] [INSPIRE].
- [64] S. Fichet and P. Saraswat, Approximate Symmetries and Gravity, JHEP **01** (2020) 088 [arXiv:1909.02002] [INSPIRE].
- [65] Y. Nomura, Spacetime and Universal Soft Modes Black Holes and Beyond, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 066024 [arXiv:1908.05728] [INSPIRE].
- [66] T. Daus, A. Hebecker, S. Leonhardt and J. March-Russell, Towards a Swampland Global Symmetry Conjecture using weak gravity, Nucl. Phys. B 960 (2020) 115167 [arXiv:2002.02456] [INSPIRE].
- [67] C. Córdova, K. Ohmori and T. Rudelius, Symmetry Breaking Scales and Weak Gravity Conjectures, to appear.